THESIS

PLANT SECONDARY METABOLITES ENHANCE SURVIVAL AND PATHOGEN TOLERANCE IN THE EUROPEAN HONEY BEE: A STRUCTURE-FUNCTION STUDY

Submitted by

Alison Hogeboom

Graduate Degree Program in Ecology

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Master of Science

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Spring 2019

Master's Committee:

Advisor: Andrew Norton

Louis Bjostad Mark Uchanski Copyright by Alison Hogeboom 2019

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Adequate nutrition is essential for European honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) colony growth, and productivity, yet foraging limitations resulting from factors such as habitat loss often lead to dietary deficiencies. Plant secondary metabolites are key constituents of floral nectar that support physiological processes in honey bees, however, these compounds are only available to bees with access to a diversity of floral resources.

Furthermore, the relationship between different classes of plant secondary metabolites and their function within honey bee diets requires further investigation. Using a structurefunction framework, we evaluated whether four structurally similar plant secondary metabolites found in the nectar of common agricultural crops elicit comparable effects on honey bee survival and pathogen tolerance. The addition of plant secondary metabolites to artificial nectar solution enhanced median survival, in some cases more than doubling the lifespan of worker honey bees. Moreover, plant secondary metabolites demonstrated nutraceutical effects, and sometimes elicited medicinal effects on honey bees infected with *Nosema ceranae*. Our findings provide a platform to identify plant secondary metabolites which can augment current management techniques to support the long-term sustainability of the apiculture industry.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to offer a tremendous thank you for those who supported me throughout the completion of this degree. In particular, thank you to Andrew Norton for the persistent encouragement and positivity. Thank you to Lou Bjostad and Elisa Bernklau for sparking joy and curiosity throughout this learning process. Thank you to Mark Uchanski for your support under changing circumstances. Thank you to Arathi Seshadri for her participation in the conception of this research, and for driving me towards a career that I love dearly. Thank you to Bob Todd, for instilling in me a life-long passion for science-based beekeeping. The biggest thanks of all to Colton O'Brien. Colton has been an unstoppable cheerleader despite having frames of bees accidentally thrown at him, and for finding truck keys hopelessly lost in the rattlesnake-infested fields of Nebraska. Finally, a warm, loving thank you to my parents, Thomas Hogeboom and Elizabeth McCarthy, and to my brother, Forrest. I could not have done it without your love, laughter, and support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSi	ii
LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
CHAPTER 1: PLANT SECONDARY METABOLITES ENHANCE HONEY BEE WORKER SURVIVAL; A STRUCTURE-FUNCTION RELATIONSHIP	1
INTRODUCTION	1
OBJECTIVES	6
EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN	6
RESULTS	8
P-COUMARIC ACID	8
GALLIC ACID	9
KAEMPFEROL	9
CAFFEINE	9
DISCUSSION	9
CHAPTER 2: THE MEDICINAL AND NUTRACEUTICAL VALUE OF PLANT SECONDARY METABOLITES WITHIN THE HONEY BEE DIET	3
INTRODUCTION	3
OBJECTIVES 1	7
EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN	8
INOCULATION METHODS1	8
FEEDING ASSAYS 1	9
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	0
RESULTS	0
NUTRACEUTICAL EFFECTS	0
MEDICINAL EFFECTS	3
DISCUSSION	4
REFERENCES	7
APPENDIX	5

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. PHYTOCHEMICAL STRUCTURES AND FEEDING TREATMENT ASSAYS.	35
TABLE 2. KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL CURVE DIFFERENCES.	36
TABLE 3. PETO & PETO MULTIPLE TEST COMPARISONS	36
TABLE 4. KAPLAN MEIER SURVIVAL CURVE DIFFERENCES	39
TABLE 5. KAPLAN MEIER SURVIVAL CURVE DIFFERENCES COMPARED TO	
CONTROL	40
TABLE 6. DIFFERENCES IN SPORE CONCENTRATION OF INFECTED WORKER BEH	Ξ
INTESTINAL TRACT GIVEN DIFFERENT LEVELS OF PHYTOCHEMICAL	
CONCENTRATION	41
TABLE 7. DUNN'S POST-HOC PAIRWISE COMPARISONS OF MEAN SPORE	
CONCENTRATIONS	41

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1 - SINGLE USE CUP CAGES	7
FIGURE 2 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR P-	
COUMARIC ACID TREATMENTS	. 37
FIGURE 3 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR GALLIC	
ACID TREATMENTS	. 37
FIGURE 4 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR	
KAEMPFEROL TREATMENTS	. 38
FIGURE 5 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR CAFFEINE	Ξ
TREATMENTS	. 38
FIGURE 6 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR P-	
COUMARIC ACID TREATMENTS	. 42
FIGURE 7 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR GALLIC	
ACID TREATMENTS	. 43
FIGURE 8 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR	
KAEMPFEROL TREATMENTS	. 44
FIGURE 9 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR CAFFEINE	Ξ
TREATMENTS	. 45
FIGURE 10 - AVERAGE SPORE CONCENTRATION PER 5UL OF MACERATED	
INTESTINAL TRACT SOLUTION OF INFECTED WORKER HONEY BEES	
SUPPLEMENTED WITH CAFFEINE, GALLIC ACID, KAEMPFEROL, AND P-COUMAF	RIC
ACID AT FOUR LEVELS OF CONCENTRATION	. 46

CHAPTER 1: PLANT SECONDARY METABOLITES ENHANCE HONEY BEE WORKER SURVIVAL; A STRUCTURE-FUNCTION RELATIONSHIP

INTRODUCTION

The chemical relationships between flowering plants and their pollinators are derived from an extensive co-evolutionary history. These chemical relationships sustain the longstanding mutualism between plants and pollinators through nutritive benefits to pollinators in return for pollination services (Bronstein 1994). Pollinators, such as the ubiquitous honey bee, are entirely dependent upon the macronutrients and micronutrients within floral nectar and pollen to satisfy their nutritional requirements (Seeley 1995). Therefore, the constituents of nectar and pollen, which include an assortment of proteins, lipids, and carbohydrates, as well as trace amounts of plant secondary metabolites are essential to honey bee nutrition (Brodschneider and Crailsheim 2010, Cane et al. 2011). The importance of macronutrients within the honey bee diet is well understood, yet, the functional significance of plant secondary metabolites on honey bee health has yet to be fully discovered (Erler and Moritz 2016).

Adequate nutrition is essential for maintaining normal honey bee colony growth and productivity, yet the nutritional requirements of a colony fluctuate over time in response to colony growth status and environmental conditions. Variation in nutritional needs throughout the year can be triggered by a number of natural factors including depletion of winter pollen stores, intensive brood rearing, and provisioning for times of resource scarcities during summer drought or overwintering (Mattila and Otis 2006a). The dietary deficiencies of a colony are mitigated by rigorous pollen and nectar collection by foragers, however, individual bees that have limited access to a balanced diet are poorly equipped to resist biotic and abiotic stressors. Malnourished,

stressed foragers are unable to effectively compensate for these dynamic dietary needs, and cannot efficiently contribute the enhancement of colony food storage (Brodschneider and Crailsheim 2010, Scofield and Mattila 2015). Therefore, the availability of high-quality floral resources is essential to resist environmental stressors, and satisfy colony foraging needs.

The value of floral resources is influenced by the assortment of macronutrients and micronutrient constituents within floral pollen and nectar (Seeley 1995, Di Pasquale et al. 2013). Each component of nectar and pollen supports specific physiological function in honey bees. Consequently, a broad variety of carbohydrates, lipids, proteins, and plant secondary metabolites is necessary to support healthy colonies. The proteins and amino acids found in pollen are essential to the development and growth of larvae and young workers, and enhance longevity whereas lipids, specifically Omega-3 and Omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids, support associative learning, cognitive performance, egg production, and wax production (de Groot 1953, Sagili and Pankiw 2007, Hendriksma and Shafir 2016, Avni et al. 2009, Arien et al. 2015, Vaudo et al. 2015). Alternatively, carbohydrates found in nectar fuel the high metabolic demands of foraging adult bees (Ricigliano et al. 2017). Floral resources containing a variety of proteins, lipids, and carbohydrates are considered to be of high nutritional value to honey bees, however, pollen and nectar also contain plant secondary metabolites. Plant secondary metabolites are known toxins to many insects and microbes, but their evolutionary persistence within floral nectar and pollen suggests they may have nutritive value within the honey bee diet (Richardson et al. 2015).

The evolution of plant secondary metabolites is rooted in defense from herbivory or disease, and like herbivores, pollinators can experience detrimental, even toxic effects from these compounds. Plant secondary metabolites found in non-reproductive plant tissues, as well as

floral nectar and pollen, include broad groups of compounds such as non-protein amino acids, alkaloids, terpenoids, and phenolics (Baker 1977). The consequences of exposure to these plant defense chemicals, while costly, may also provide benefits to bees (Adler 2000, Mayack 2009, Alaux et al. 2010, Manson et al. 2010, Hendriksma et al. 2014, Irwin et al. 2014, Richardson et al. 2015). A number of poisonous plant genera require their associated pollinators to adopt biochemical, physiological, and behavioral mechanisms to cope with toxic co-occurring plant secondary metabolites (Adler 2000, Gillespie and Adler 2013, Irwin et al. 2014, Masai Biller 2015, Palmer-Young et al. 2016). Studies have revealed that ingestion of plant secondary metabolites may reduce intensity of gut pathogen infections, and enhance immunity in bumble bees (Alaux et al. 2010, Manson et al. 2010, Hendriksma et al. 2014, Irwin et al. 2014, Richardson et al. 2015, Palmer-Young et al. 2016, 2017c). For example, consumption of gelsemine, a nectar alkaloid found in Gelsemium sempervirens, has shown to alleviate severity of Crithidia bombii, a gut pathogen which infects bumble bees (Manson et al. 2010). Other plant secondary metabolites including alkaloids, glycosides, phenolics, and terpenoids have also been demonstrated to reduce gut pathogen loading in artificially infected bees (Richardson et al. 2015). The immunocompetence health benefits bees receive from consumption of plant secondary metabolites may have facilitated key reliance upon plants which produce these compounds (Metabolhtes 2004, Pyke 2016, Abrahamczyk et al. 2017). Moreover, plants that produce a diversity of plant secondary metabolites within nectar and pollen may hold greater nutritional value.

Dietary diversity of pollen and nectar is desirable to honey bees, but plant secondary metabolites may be a stronger driving force in resource selection, thus reinforcing chemically mediated plant-pollinator relationships (Alaux et al. 2010). Polyfloral pollen and nectar are

nutritionally superior to single sources of macronutrients and micronutrients, as a variety of proteins, amino acids, and lipids support different functionalities. The same pattern may hold true to plant secondary metabolites. A broad array of dietary plant secondary metabolites supports the upregulation of essential gene expression, while a single phytochemical may have limited benefit to honey bees. Of the different plant secondary metabolites found in floral nectar, the role of p-coumaric acid has been explored at great lengths. In studies that describe the mechanisms behind the physiological benefits of phytochemical ingestion by honey bees, the functional role of p-coumaric acid has been identified to act upon the broad categories of gene upregulation and enzymatic function. The use of p-coumaric acid as a dietary additive not only upregulates cytochrome P450 genes encoding for antimicrobial peptides, but also upregulates the production of enzymes capable of metabolizing pesticides within the midgut of honey bees (Mao et al. 2013). Decreased toxicity and reduced probability of premature death from pesticide exposure are correlated with the consumption of p-coumaric acid (Liao et al. 2017). Furthermore, p-coumaric acid found within beebread and larval brood food influences gene down-regulation associated with ovary reduction in worker bees, and drives worker development and task group differentiation (Mao et al. 2015). While these studies indicate the benefits of a single phytochemical on bee health, further investigation in needed to identify other beneficial plant secondary metabolites to evaluate whether they possess comparable properties to p-coumaric acid.

Structurally similar plant secondary metabolites can elicit similar biological activities (Kelly et al. 2001). This structure-function relationship is demonstrated in a number of compounds found in floral nectar and pollen, and could serve as a means to identify plant secondary metabolites that have analogous properties to p-coumaric acid. p-coumaric acid is

classified as a phenolic acid, and is characterized by a hydroxyl (-OH) group attached to an aromatic ring (Zabka and Pavela 2013). Moreover, phenolic acids share the most antimicrobial, antioxidant activity of many plant secondary metabolites. For example, p-coumaric acid and gallic acid, two phenolic acids found in the nectar of common plants such as Fragaria ananassa, and Rubus idaeus have similar phenyl group configurations and equivalent biological functionalities in a variety of organisms. These two compounds are known to produce antidiabetic, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory activities in a number of insects and mammals (King and Young 1999, Abdel-Moneim et al. 2018). Given that p-coumaric acid has been established to produce beneficial effects in honey bees, it is probable that gallic acid could also have similar functionalities on honey bee physiology. Caffeine is another phenolic acid commonly present in the nectar of crop and non-crop plant species that shares molecular characteristics with pcoumaric acid. Specifically, the reactivity of a hydroxyl group on the phenyl ring within both compounds produces antioxidant behavior (Dejan et al. 2013). These comparable molecular structures yield similar antioxidant functionalities in other biological systems, suggesting they could elicit similar effects within honey bees. This structure-function relationship extends to pcoumaric acid and kaempferol. Similar to gallic acid and caffeine, these two plant secondary metabolites are key phenolic constituents found in Rubus idaeus honey that have been identified to limit antimicrobial activity of five Gram-positive bacteria (King and Young 1999). The presence of both compounds in honey bee products, together with their shared structural characteristics and functional similarities, indicate their potential importance within the honey bee diet. Using this structure-function framework, we identify whether a suite of biologically important plant secondary metabolites including p-coumaric acid, gallic acid, caffeine, and kaempferol, possess similar effects that enhance honey bee health.

OBJECTIVES

The primary goal of this study was to evaluate the structure-function relationship between structurally similar plant secondary metabolites that are abundant in floral nectar and pollen, and their biological function within honey bees. To validate this relationship, we compared survival probability of worker honey bees fed nectar solutions containing four structurally similar plant secondary metabolites that are common constituents of floral nectar and, we demonstrate potential for enhancing honey bee health. Moreover, we determined whether different concentration of the four plant secondary metabolites within nectar solution had measurable effects on worker honey bee survival. In pursuing this goal, we will assess the functional role of structurally similar plant secondary metabolites on honey bee physiology, and provide new tools for the enhancement of honey bee colony health.

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

To measure the effects of structurally similar plant secondary metabolites on survival probability of honey bees, we used worker honey bees of the same age-cohort from three hives in 2016 (n=171), and four hives in 2017 (n=391). Age-cohort bees were obtained using the method of Arathi and Spivak (2001), wherein honey bee queens from four experimental colonies were provided with empty, uniquely marked frames to lay eggs. The queen was caged to an empty frame for 24 hours to ensure that all eggs on the frame were laid on the same day (Arathi et al.

2000, Arathi and Spivak 2001, Arathi et al. 2006). The date when the queen was caged was marked on the frame, and marked frames containing late-stage pupae were removed from source colonies after 21 days. Frames with late stage pupae were placed in an incubator at 34°C and 50% humidity until the day of emergence (Arathi et al. 2000, Arathi and Spivak 2001, Arathi et al. 2006). Adult bees were color marked on the day of emergence using unique colors for different days to indicate age cohorts (Arathi et al. 2000, Arathi and



FIGURE 1 - SINGLE USE CUP CAGES

Spivak 2001, Arathi et al. 2006). Marked bees were then removanced to source coronics, and collected after six days to begin the feeding assays.

For the feeding assays, nectar containing plant secondary metabolites and sucrose was created by adding treatment compounds to aqueous 20% sucrose solution until completely dissolved. Compounds tested included p-coumaric acid, gallic acid, kaempferol, and caffeine. Each compound was tested at three (25, 250, and 2500 ppm) concentrations (Table 1). Concentrations ranged from naturally occurring levels found in nectar (25 ppm), to extreme dosages (2500 ppm) (Adler 2000). Control treatment was aqueous 20% sucrose solution. New solutions were mixed every 10-12 days, and frozen at -8°C until use.

Same age-cohort worker bees were entered into the feeding assays at the ages of 8-10 days. Ten bees were randomly assigned to single-use cup cages in an incubator maintained at 34°C at 50% relative humidity (Figure 1) (Evans et al. 2009). Feeding syringes were used to administer nectar and bees had *ad libitum* access to phytochemical solutions. Syringes were

replaced every seven days to ensure freshness of solutions. The cages were monitored for dead bees daily. The date of mortality and number of dead bees for each treatment was recorded. *Statistical Analysis*

Kaplan-Meier survival probability estimates were used to evaluate differences in worker bee survival between treatments and concentrations using the survival package in R Version 1.0.153 (Grambsch 2000). Best fit models were constructed using the survfit() function, and significant differences between treatment concentrations were detected using the surfdiff() function. Peto-Peto modified Gehan-Wilcoxon test comparisons, accounting for unequal variance and sample size, were used to compare differences in survival probabilities within treatments with the survdiff() function (Grambsch 2000). Graphics were generated using Microsoft Power BI. Significance was evaluated at alpha equal to 0.05.

RESULTS

Median survival of worker bees that received phytochemical supplementation with pcoumaric acid ($\chi^2 = 15.5$, df = 3, P = 0.001), gallic acid ($\chi^2 = 16.6$, df = 3, P = <0.001), kaempferol ($\chi^2 = 65.8$, df = 3, P = <0.001), and caffeine ($\chi^2 = 33.4$, df = 3, P = <0.001) was typically greater than bees that received control nectar solution (Table 2).

P-COUMARIC ACID

Peto and Peto pairwise comparisons of median survival within the p-coumaric acid feeding treatments showed increased median survival, with bees living 5 days longer in the 25 ppm treatment ($\chi^2 = 11$, df = 1, P = <0.001), and one day longer with the 250 ppm group ($\chi^2 = 3.1$, df = 1, P = 0.08), as compared to bees that received the control nectar solution. The highest dosage of p-coumaric acid, 2500 ppm, greatly extended median survival, with bees living 22

days longer or double that of bees provided the control solution ($\chi^2 = 9.2$, df = 1, P = 0.002) (Figure 2) (Table 3).

GALLIC ACID

Gallic acid supplementation improved median survival at concentrations of 250 ppm, with bees living one day longer than bees provided control nectar ($\chi^2 = 6.5$, df = 1, P = 0.01). Bees administered gallic acid at concentrations of 25 ppm and 2500 ppm demonstrated no significant effect on median survival, with increase of one day in median survival of the low dosage group ($\chi^2 = 0$, df = 1, P = 0.8), and a decrease in median survival by one day for the high dosage group ($\chi^2 = 5.5$, df = 1, P = 0.02) (Figure 3) (Table 3).

KAEMPFEROL

Dietary supplementation with kaempferol greatly enhanced median survival, with bees living 5 days longer with the 25 ppm solution ($\chi^2 = 7.7$, df = 1, P = 0.005), and 6 days longer with the 250 ppm solution ($\chi^2 = 10.7$, df = 1, P = 0.001). Similar to p-coumaric acid, bees that received the highest dose of kaempferol lived more than twice as long as the control bees, with a median survival of 47 days ($\chi^2 = 45.9$, df = 1, P = <0.001) (Figure 4) (Table 3).

CAFFEINE

Caffeine treatments showed that bees given nectar containing 25 ppm and 250 ppm of caffeine lived 4.5 and 6 days longer than bees that received control nectar ($\chi^2 = 13.8$, df = 1, P = <0.001; $\chi^2 = 10.4$, df = 1, P = 0.001). However, bees in the 2500 ppm caffeine treatment lived one day less than the control group ($\chi^2 = 2.8$, df = 1, P = 0.09) (Figure 5) (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

Our study supports the hypothesis the plant secondary metabolites p-coumaric acid, gallic acid, caffeine, and kaempferol, which have similar molecular structural components have

comparable beneficial functional effects on honey bee survival. The structure-function relationship used in this study provides a framework to identify plant secondary metabolites that enhance survival probability in honey bees. The elicited effects demonstrate the importance of plant secondary metabolites within the honey bee diet, as improved worker survival has important consequences for foraging performance as well as resource selection. Given the significant improvement in median survival, particularly with the highest concentrations of kaempferol, and p-coumaric acid supplementation, our findings may have implications for management practices.

The suite of phenolic acids tested in this study have been proven to stimulate antioxidant and antimicrobial activity in other biological systems, which could be mechanisms by which survival was enhanced (Abdel-Moneim et al. 2018). The addition of dietary plant secondary metabolites within supplemental feed may reduce oxidative stress that aging worker honey bees experience, and help bees combat microbial infections. The benefits of combating oxidative stress and microbial infections are exhibited through foraging performance and lifetime energy budget. The number of foraging trips, and consequently the length of peak foraging performance directly corresponds to honey bee worker survival (Maurizio and Hodges 1950, Visscher and Dukas 1997). Key physiological functions such as glycogen synthesis in flight muscles deteriorate after approximately 800km of foraging distance at peak performance (Neukirch 1982). Moreover, physiological deterioration dictates the probability a worker will reach the upper bounds of her lifetime energy budget. Foraging behavior accelerates aging, causes oxidative stress, and exposes honey bees to a host of microbial infections (Seeley 1998). The compounding impacts of these stressors results in a typical lifespan that extends three weeks, but with phytochemical supplementation the deleterious effects of external stressors could be

reduced, thus extending lifetime energy budget and length of peak foraging performance (Maurizio and Hodges 1950, Neukirch 1982).

While dietary supplementation is a necessary tool to promote healthy colony populations, long-standing patterns of pollinator-host plant interactions may be affected by limited phytochemical diversity. The availability of phytochemical diversity in nectar is ecologically significant to the chemical relationships between plants and their mutualistic pollinators. Diversity is a key indicator of nutritional quality, and similar to amino acids in pollen, phytochemical combinations and concentrations differ between plant species (Duffey and Stout 1996, Adler 2000). Pollen with a diversity of amino acids is more desirable to forager bees as it better satisfies nutritional requirements, therefore it could be expected that nectar with a diversity of plant secondary metabolites may also better satisfy these dietary requirements (Vaudo et al. 2015). However, access to diverse nectar plant secondary metabolites is only possible when diverse nutritional sources are present. When access to essential plant secondary metabolites is reduced or eliminated, the chemical relationships between plants and pollinators are weakened. Moreover, a reduction of chemical traits within a landscape may ultimately impact the robustness of plant-pollinator assemblages, and alter ecological interaction patterns between plants and their mutualistic pollinators.

The improvement of survival in honey bee workers is essential with the expansion of large-scale, ubiquitous land-use change such as agricultural intensification, increased monocultures, expanding loss of habitats with wild flowers, and increased commercialization of pollination services. Due to a high degree of floral fidelity and extensive monocultures in agricultural systems, commercial honey bee colonies may not receive the adequate mixture of plant secondary metabolites necessary for a balanced diet (Axel et al. 2011). While nutritional

deficiencies are traditionally addressed through management practices such as feeding with sucrose syrup and pollen, dietary supplementation with plant secondary metabolites is a novel tool that could be particularly important when access to quality nutritional resources is limited (Standifer 1977). Incorporating dietary plant secondary metabolites into the sugar syrup fed to bee colonies will allow bees to access these beneficial nutrients in addition to fulfilling their carbohydrate needs. Our findings suggest that supplemental dosages of p-coumaric acid and kaempferol are more nutritionally valuable than standard sugar syrup solution. Even though the lowest dosages of phytochemical concentrations used in this study best reflect concentrations naturally found in nectar, our results indicate that extreme concentrations, up to 2500 ppm, may have a greater impact on bee longevity. The efficacy of p-coumaric acid and kaempferol to extend honey bee survival indicates that more research is needed into the utility of plant secondary metabolites that share similar chemical structures with these molecules.

The structure-function framework used in this study is advantageous for the identification of plant secondary metabolites to advance our understanding of honey bee health and management. Plant secondary metabolites which are structurally similar to known beneficial compounds can be selectively tested to determine their functional significance in honey bee digestive, cognitive, and immune systems. Current research is underway to assess the benefits of structurally similar plant secondary metabolites on immune response of bees with pathogenic infections. Such findings would provide alternative methods for addressing a suite of problems threatening the long-term sustainability of the apiculture industry and the pollination services they provide for U.S. agriculture. As a result, the data presented here provide a basis for further research into the application of dietary phytochemical supplementation to promote honey bee colony health and productivity.

CHAPTER 2: THE MEDICINAL AND NUTRACEUTICAL VALUE OF PLANT SECONDARY METABOLITES WITHIN THE HONEY BEE DIET

INTRODUCTION

Honey bees have coevolved with a suite of natural enemies, however, malnutrition resulting from commercial management practices has reduced their ability to adequately combat pathogen infections. One such lethal pathogen that is quick to develop resistance against fungicides is *Nosema ceranae*. Synthetic fungicides have rapidly become insufficient in treating infections, but naturally occurring plant secondary metabolites found in nectar and pollen could serve as a supplemented defense mechanism against *Nosema ceranae*. Specifically, plant secondary metabolites that share structural characteristics with phenolic acids have been demonstrated to possess antifungal properties. Using a structure-function framework, we evaluate whether four structurally similar plant secondary metabolites found in the nectar of common agricultural crops elicit comparable nutraceutical effects on honey bee survival. Moreover, we assess the medicinal value of these compounds to treat Nosema ceranae infections. Dietary supplementation with p-coumaric acid, gallic acid, kaempferol, and caffeine elicited nutraceutical effects, whereas kaempferol and caffeine were effective in reducing pathogen infections. Our results offer not only nutraceutical tools to enhance honey bee health, but alternative methods of suppressing Nosema ceranae infections.

The mechanisms underlying how pollinators combat pathogen infections has significant ecological importance to the evolution of plant-pollinator mutualisms. Pollinators such as the honey bee are entirely reliant upon flowering plants to satisfy their nutritional requirements (Bronstein 1994, Erler and Moritz 2016, Pyke 2016). While an adequate assortment of

carbohydrates, lipids, and amino acids found in floral nectar and pollen support overall honey bee nutrition, a growing body of evidence suggests that plant secondary metabolites support immunocompetence (Seeley 1995, Di Pasquale et al. 2013) (Arien et al. 2015, Scofield and Mattila 2015). Although plant secondary metabolites in floral nectar are considered toxic constituents, the potential benefits to honey bees experiencing pathogen-induced stress may outweigh the harmful effects. This balance between the benefits to honey bees combating pathogen infections, and the fitness costs of consuming potentially toxic compounds is likely a contributing force in the evolution of chemical relationships between plants and their pollinators. Despite the important implications of these chemical interactions, further research is needed to evaluate the relationship between phytochemical compounds and their ability to alleviate pathogen infections in honey bees.

Many plant secondary metabolites are perceived to have evolved as plant defenses against herbivores and pathogens, yet despite their toxicity, these compounds may have subtle immunological benefits to honey bees. Remarkably, these toxic compounds can also be beneficial. Plant secondary metabolites which express long-term health promoting qualities, referred to as "functional foods", are considered nutraceuticals. For example, the previous study highlights the nutraceutical benefit of p-coumaric acid, wherein healthy bees gained substantial increases in survival from long-term consumption. In contrast, plant secondary metabolites which act upon specific health problems, yet do not serve a nutritional role are considered medicinal (Briskin 2000, Leif Richardson 2016). One specific example of phytochemical medicinal utility has shown that bumble bees experimentally infected with a common gut pathogen, *Crithidia bombii*, will selectively forage for nectar containing iridoid glycosides to reduce infection severity. Yet, healthy bumble bees do not demonstrate this foraging behavior

(Leif Richardson 2016). Unlike nutraceutical or medicinal plant secondary metabolites, some compounds found in nectar simply reduce fitness, regardless of health status, and are simply toxic. Anabasine is an example of a toxic phytochemical as it demonstrates variable, often negative effects on both uninfected and infected bumblebees (Palmer-Young et al. 2017). These examples highlight the wide array of phytochemical properties, ranging from medicinal to toxic. Yet, there are few approaches to identify medicinal or nutraceutical compounds. Given the increase and frequency of pathogenic infections devastating the U.S. apiculture industry, there is a critical need to identify nutraceutical, and medicinal compounds within floral nectar.

Honey bees have co-evolved with a suite of natural enemies, however, evolutionarily derived defense mechanisms may not adequately provide protection against unfamiliar pathogens. Both European and Asian honey bees have adaptations to tolerate pathogens in which they share a common co-evolutionary history, but when a pathogen spreads between species, it can easily take advantage of ill-equipped hosts. For example, a common pathogen of the Asian honey bee, *Nosema ceranae*, does not share a co-evolutionary history with the European honey bee. This lack of exposure to *Nosema ceranae* leaves the European honey bee highly susceptible to infection, and poses a significant threat to population persistence.

Nosema ceranae is an obligate parasitic fungus which utilizes the fecal-oral route of transmission, wherein honey bees ingest metabolically inactive spores during foraging or cleaning activities (Chen 2008, Gisder et al. 2011). Ingested spores remain vegetative within the lumen of the midgut, but invade epithelial cells during their reproductive phase. Epithelial cells containing mature spores lyse, damaging the absorptive capacity of the midgut, and spreading millions of spores throughout the gut lumen. These spores are excreted, serving as a new infection source within and between colonies (Chen 2008, Fries et al. 1996). Infections impose

significant metabolic stress on hosts through epithelial cell destruction and energy robbing by the parasite (Mayack 2009, Jack et al. 2016). Resulting physiological impairments include underdeveloped glandular structures, acceleration of age polyethism, suppression of immune response, malabsorption of nutrients, energetic stress, and shortened lifespans (Antoine Lecocq 2016, Antúnez et al. 2009, Chen 2008, Jack et al. 2016, Mayack 2009). In addition, a number of behavioral functions deteriorate as a result of infection, including thermoregulation, learning and memory, homing ability, orientation, and foraging (Campbell et al. 2010, Dussaubat et al. 2013, Ptaszyńska et al. 2016). Furthermore, the consequences of infected queens are devastating on the colony level, as they experience insufficient ovary development resulting in poor worker production. Failure to maintain stable colony populations, due to lag in worker production will ultimately lead to queen supersedure or colony failure (Alaux et al. 2011b). Despite the profound effects infections impose on honey bees, a growing body of evidence suggests that select plant secondary metabolites could be used as a medical remedy against *Nosema ceranae*.

Plant secondary metabolites serve as an important defense mechanism by which honey bees can combat pathogen infections, however, few compounds with true medicinal properties have been identified (Manson et al. 2010). One such phytochemical which could possess medicinal properties is p-coumaric acid. As a dietary additive, p-coumaric acid upregulates cytochrome P450 genes encoding for antimicrobial peptides (Mao et al. 2013). Moreover, pcoumaric acid and other phenolic acids which share hydroxyl (-OH) aromatic-group configurations, demonstrate nutraceutical and medicinal benefits, stimulating anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and antimicrobial activity in a variety of insects and mammals (Abdel-Moneim et al. 2018, (King and Young 1999, Kelly et al. 2001, Zabka and Pavela 2013, Abdel-Moneim et al.

kaempferol, have been established alternatives in the treatment against significant pathogenic filamentous fungi including *Fusarium*, *Penicillium*, and *Aspergillis* in food products (Zabka and Pavela 2013). This antifungal efficacy suggests that these compounds may be suitable treatments for honey bees with *Nosema ceranae* infections. The relationship between structurally similar plant secondary metabolites and their medicinal functions could offer novel approaches to the treatment of *Nosema ceranae*. We applied this structure-function framework to test the nutraceutical and medicinal properties of four structurally similar compounds in honey bees with and without *Nosema ceranae* infections.

OBJECTIVES

Our goal in this study was twofold. First, we hypothesized that the four structurally similar plant secondary metabolites commonly found in floral nectar had comparable nutraceutical effects. Nutraceutical benefits were assessed on enhancement of survival probability, wherein healthy and infected bees would both experience increases in longevity. Second, we hypothesized that the plant secondary metabolites tested would have medicinal function in honey bees. Plant secondary metabolites were deemed medicinal if they reduced infection intensity of honey bees experimentally infected with *Nosema ceranae*. By connecting the nutraceutical or medicinal function with plant secondary metabolites that share similar chemical structures, we can validate the structure-function framework by which other beneficial plant secondary metabolites can be easily identified.

To determine nutraceutical effects of p-coumaric acid, gallic acid, kaempferol, and caffeine on survival of healthy honey bees and bees infected with *Nosema ceranae*. To evaluate the medicinal utility of p-coumaric acid, gallic acid, kaempferol, and caffeine to reduce spore concentration within the midgut of worker honey bees infected with *Nosema ceranae*.

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

To measure the nutraceutical and medicinal effects of structurally similar plant secondary metabolites on survival probability and infection intensity of honey bees, we used worker honey bees of the same age-cohort from five hives in 2017 (n=1000). Age-cohort bees were obtained using the method of Arathi and Spivak (2001), wherein honey bee queens from four experimental colonies were provided with empty, uniquely marked frames to lay eggs. The queen was caged to an empty frame for 24 hours to ensure that all eggs on the frame were laid on the same day (Arathi et al. 2000, Arathi and Spivak 2001, Arathi et al. 2006). The date when the queen was caged was marked on the frame, and marked frames containing late-stage pupae were removed from source colonies after 21 days. Frames with late stage pupae were placed in an incubator at 34°C and 50% humidity until the day of emergence (Arathi et al. 2000, Arathi and Spivak 2001, Arathi et al. 2006).

INOCULATION METHODS

Nosema ceranae spores for inoculation were obtained from stocks maintained by Dr. Mayack et al. (Mayack 2009) in the form of macerated intestinal tract suspension. The species of *Nosema* used was previously confirmed using multiplex PCR and electrophoresis method (Naug and Gibbs 2009). Fresh inoculum was produced by feeding 20 worker honey bees macerated intestinal tract suspension mixed with 50% sucrose. Inoculated bees were housed in single-use cup cages, provided 20% sucrose solution, and sacrificed after 10 days. Intestinal tracts were dissected, macerated into a composite sample, and vortexed for 30 seconds. Initial spore concentration was determined by counting using a hemocytometer. Inoculum solution containing 50% sucrose solution and *Nosema ceranae* spores in a concentration of 1x10⁴ spores per mL was used for infection inoculum. A 50% sucrose solution was used for the control inoculum.

On the day of emergence, bees were randomly assigned inoculation treatments. Bees were starved for two hours prior to individual feeding with experimental and control inoculum. Individual feeding was used to ensure exposure to a known quantity of spores, and to produce lower variation in infection level between bees (Fries et al. 2013). Bees were individually fed 5 μ L of infection or control inoculum, and randomly assigned to feeding treatments according to their infection status. Bees were housed in single-use cup cages with access to feeding syringes containing phytochemical solutions, and placed in an incubator at 34°C and 50% relative humidity (Higes 2007). Feeding syringes were used to administer nectar to bees, ensuring they had *ad libitum* access to phytochemical solutions. Syringes were replaced every seven days to ensure freshness of solutions. The cages were monitored for dead bees daily. The date of mortality and number of dead bees for each treatment was recorded. Dead bees were frozen at -8°C to prevent degradation of midgut tissues until spore concentrations within individual bees were quantified using a hemocytometer.

FEEDING ASSAYS

For the feeding assays, nectar containing plant secondary metabolites and sucrose was created by adding treatment compounds to aqueous 20% sucrose solution until completely dissolved. Compounds tested included p-coumaric acid, gallic acid, kaempferol, and caffeine. Each compound was tested at three (25, 250, and 2500 ppm) concentrations (Table 1). Concentrations ranged from naturally occurring levels found in nectar (25 ppm), to extreme dosages (2500 ppm) (Adler 2000). Control treatment was aqueous 20% sucrose solution. New solutions were mixed every 10-12 days, and frozen at -8°C until use.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Kaplan-Meier survival probability estimates were used to evaluate differences in worker bee survival between inoculation treatments using the survival package in R Version 1.0.153 (Grambsch 2000). Best fit models were constructed using the survfit() function, and significant differences between treatment concentrations were detected using the surfdiff() function. Peto-Peto modified Gehan-Wilcoxon test comparisons, accounting for unequal variance and sample size, were used to evaluate differences in survival probabilities within treatments with the survdiff() function (Grambsch 2000). Graphics were generated using Microsoft Power BI.

Kruskal-wallis rank sum tests were used to evaluate the medicinal effects of plant secondary metabolites, by determining significant differences in spore loading of worker bees using the kruskal.test() function (R Core Team 2017). Dunn's post-hoc test of multiple comparisons using the dunn.test() function was used to determine differences between spore loading in bees given different concentrations of the same phytochemical treatment(Dino 2017). Significance was evaluated at alpha equal to 0.05.

RESULTS

NUTRACEUTICAL EFFECTS

Nutraceutical properties were evaluated by comparing median survival between bees within the same infection treatments, fed control nectar solution or phytochemical compounds. All compounds tested in this study showed nutraceutical benefit, however, not all concentrations provided significant enhancement of survival.

P-COUMARIC ACID

Pairwise comparisons between median survival in healthy bees with and without pcoumaric acid supplementation show that p-coumaric acid has nutraceutical effects ($\chi^2=22$, df

=3, P<0.001). Bees in the lowest dosage group lived six days more than bees provided control nectar solution (χ^2 =17.7, df=1, P<0.001), while the 250 ppm and 2500 ppm groups demonstrated an increase in median survival by two days (χ^2 =5.7, df=1, P=0.02) and 5 days (χ^2 =10.2, df=1, P=0.001), respectively (Table 5) (Figure 6).

Bees infected with *Nosema ceranae* also displayed benefits from supplementation with pcoumaric acid, confirming the compound's nutraceutical activity. Similar to the healthy bees, infected bees given a lower dose of p-coumaric acid showed the greatest benefit. Median survival of bees given 25 ppm of p-coumaric acid increased by six days (χ^2 =20.8, df=1, P= 0.01), while bees provided 250 ppm lived three days longer than bees provided control solution (χ^2 =6.2, df=1, P=0.001). Moreover, survival in the highest dosage group increased by four days (χ^2 =21, df=3, P<0.01) (Table 5) (Figure 6).

GALLIC ACID

The nutraceutical effect of gallic acid in healthy honey bees was significant only at 250 ppm (χ^2 =8.4, df=1, P=0.004), with bees living two days longer than their control counterparts. While not significantly different from the control treatment, bees provided the lowest dose of gallic acid lived two days more (χ^2 =0.6, df=1, P=0.4), and two days less at the highest dose (χ^2 =3.3, df=1, P=0.7) (Table 5) (Figure 7).

Similar to the healthy bees, infected bees also received significant nutraceutical benefits from 250 ppm of gallic acid supplementation. Infected bees provided gallic acid at 250 ppm lived six days longer than bees receiving control solution (χ^2 =18.6, df =1, P=0.01). Median survival of infected bees that received gallic acid at 25 ppm and 2500 ppm was not significantly different from infected bees that received the control solution (χ^2 =3.3, df =1, P=0.7), (χ^2 =0.2, df =1, P=0.7) (Table 5) (Figure 7).

KAEMPFEROL

Supplementation with kaempferol elicited the most striking differences in median survival. Healthy bees supplied kaempferol at 25 ppm and 250 ppm showed similar increases in longevity, with bees living six days (χ^2 =7.4, df =1, P=0.006) and seven days (χ^2 =19.2, df =1, P=0.001) longer than bees in the control group. The highest doses of kaempferol elicited the most prominent increase in survival, with bees living 19 days longer (χ^2 =55.4, df =1, P=0.001), nearly twice as long as bees within the control group (Table 5) (Figure 8).

The median survival of infected bees given kaempferol was also longer than median survival of infected bees fed control nectar. The two highest dosage groups showed a median survival six days (χ^2 =18.1, df=1, P= 0.001), and one day (χ^2 =8.1, df=1, P=0.004) longer than the control group. The median survival of bees given the lowest dosage of kaempferol, 25 ppm, was not significantly different that of the control group (χ^2 =2.3, df=1, P=0.1) (Table 5) (Figure 8).

CAFFEINE

Lower concentrations of caffeine had a positive effect on median survival, while extreme concentrations had no effect on bees with and without infections. Healthy bees provided caffeine at 25 ppm and 250 ppm showed an increase in median survival, living 5.5 days ($\chi^2=25.5$, df =1, P=0.001), and seven days ($\chi^2=21.9$, df =1, P=0.001) longer than bees that received control solution. However, bees that received 2500 ppm of caffeine did not show a significant difference in median survival compared to the control group ($\chi^2=1.4$, df =1, P=0.2) (Table 5) (Figure 9).

The same patterns of survival were exhibited in the infected bees, with the 25 ppm and 250 ppm groups living three days (χ^2 =39.6, df =1, P=0.001) and four days (χ^2 =42.1, df =1,

P=0.001) longer than the control group. Moreover, the highest concentration had no effect on median survival (χ^2 =0.2, df =1, P=0.6) (Table 5) (Figure 9).

MEDICINAL EFFECTS

Medicinal value was assessed by comparing infection intensity between bees fed control nectar solution or phytochemical compounds. All experimentally infected bees contained *Nosema ceranae* spores, indicating that our inoculation methods were successful. Moreover, no spores were detected in bees administered control inoculum solution, confirming there was no contamination during the execution of inoculation methods.

P-COUMARIC ACID AND GALLIC ACID

No significant differences in mean spore concentration were detected between experimentally infected bees fed control nectar solution (871.7±181.1 SD), p-coumaric acid (χ^2 =4.28, df=3, P=0.23), and gallic acid (χ^2 =2.38, df=3, P=0.49) (Figure 7) (Figure 10).

KAEMPFEROL

Infected bees provided kaempferol showed significantly reduced spore concentrations ($\chi^2=15.5$, df=3, P<0.001). Spore concentrations in bees fed kaempferol at 25 ppm showed a 24.4% reduction in the number of spores with 668.1±297.9 per μ L ($\chi^2=15.5$, df=3, P=0.01). Bees in the 250 ppm group showed a similar pattern in spore reduction, with 23.3% fewer spores 666.8±322.6 per μ L ($\chi^2=15.5$, df=3, P<0.01) than bees fed control solution. However, the highest dose of kaempferol was least effective in reducing spore concentrations, with 19.8% fewer spores 698.6±314.9 per μ L ($\chi^2=15.5$, df=3, P=0.04) than the control solution (Figure 7) (Figure 10).

CAFFEINE

Caffeine at 25 ppm elicited an even greater reduction in mean spore concentration $(\chi^2=55.5, df=3, P<0.001)$, with bees experiencing a 69.9% fewer spores per μ L of macerated gut solution 261.7±264.6 per μ L ($\chi^2=55.5, df=3, P<0.01$) as compared to the control group (871.7±181.1 SD). However, no significant differences were detected in bees fed higher concentrations of caffeine (Figure 7) (Figure 10).

DISCUSSION

Our findings reveal that p-coumaric acid, gallic acid, kaempferol, and caffeine elicit nutraceutical activity in honey bees, whereas kaempferol and caffeine have medicinal value in the treatment of *Nosema ceranae*. All phenolic acids tested in this study produced modest increases in median survival, with the exception of kaempferol and caffeine. The highest dosage of kaempferol elicited particularly strong effects, nearly doubling median survival. In contrast, the highest doses of caffeine had no effect, or reduced median survival. With the exception of caffeine supplementation at 2500 ppm, we conclude that p-coumaric acid, gallic acid, kaempferol, and low dosages of caffeine have nutraceutical value.

While all phytochemical compounds tested displayed nutraceutical benefits, only kaempferol and caffeine elicited medicinal effects. The lowest concentrations of kaempferol and caffeine, which best reflect levels naturally present in nectar, had the greatest effect in spore reduction (Adler 2000). The two phenolic acids exerted antifungal effects, reducing spore concentrations by up to 24.4% in kaempferol, and nearly 70% in caffeine. While kaempferol supplementation for infected bees did not reduce median survival, caffeine supplementation reduced host median survival by one day. These findings illustrate the tradeoffs between the beneficial and toxic effects of plant secondary metabolites. Although caffeine was highly

effective at reducing *Nosema ceranae* spores, it may have caused cell damage within the host, resulting in reduced survival probability. The method of antifungal effects exerted by kaempferol and caffeine is based on ability of each compound to affect the structural cellular integrity of *Nosema ceranae* spores (Zabka and Pavela 2013). Further investigation is needed to determine whether these compounds act on *Nosema ceranae* by acidification of pH, impairment the cellular ionic homeostasis of spores within the lumen of the honey bee midgut, or by other means (Zabka and Pavela 2013). Given the favorable effects of caffeine and kaempferol, these plant secondary metabolites could be effective tools in the treatment of pathogen infections. Despite the absence of medicinal utility in p-coumaric acid, and gallic acid, these compounds may possess medicinal properties that were not measured in this study.

The identification of nutraceutical and medicinal plant secondary metabolites is essential to the sustainability of honey bee populations. Interactions between pollinators and their natural enemies may be influenced by the availability of a diversity of plant secondary metabolites found in nectar. Only pollinators with access to these compounds are able to take advantage the medicinal qualities associated with phytochemical consumption. Not only limited access, but limited diversity of plant secondary metabolites within the landscape may also have ecological significance to host-pathogen interactions. The consumption of multiple plant secondary metabolites than consuming a single phytochemical compound. Consequently, landscapes with a diversity of nutraceutical and medicinal plant secondary metabolites have greater value to unhealthy bees, however, nectar containing compounds with these properties are rarely accessible to honey bees used for large-scale pollination services. These nutritional and medicinal deserts highlight a critical need for adequate management strategies to support honey bee health.

Management strategies to reduce pathogen infections in honey bees are needed to complement plant secondary metabolites present in agricultural landscapes. Commercially managed honey bees are especially susceptible to pathogen infections. Pathogens take advantage of the stressful conditions such as intensive transportation and exposure to large-scale monocropping systems which are often treated with pesticides and fungicides. These environmental stressors result in severe nutritional deficiencies and energetic stress, leaving honey bees with compromised immune function (Alaux et al. 2010). Current management practices used to mitigate stress and treat pathogen infections rely on both dietary supplementation with pollen and artificial nectar, as well as chemical fungicide treatments. Pathogens like *Nosema ceranae* are quick to develop resistance to synthetic fungicides, rendering them insufficient. Our results suggest that dietary supplementation with plant secondary metabolites could be used as a management tool to not only provide nutraceutical benefit, but to offer alternative methods of suppressing *Nosema ceranae*.

While further phytochemical feeding assays will be necessary to characterize the full extent of benefits elicited by the phytochemical compounds tested in this study, our data provide evidence that structure-function relationships can be used to identify nutraceutical and medicinal compounds within floral nectar. P-coumaric acid, gallic acid, kaempferol, and caffeine support a nutritionally balanced diet, while kaempferol and caffeine supplementation may offer new approaches for treating honey bees with *Nosema ceranae* infections.

REFERENCES

- Abrahamczyk, S., M. Kessler, D. Hanley, D. N. Karger, M. P. J. Müller, A. C. Knauer, F. Keller, M. Schwerdtfeger, and A. M. Humphreys. 2017. Pollinator adaptation and the evolution of floral nectar sugar composition. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 30:112-127.
- Adl, S. M., A. G. Simpson, M. A. Farmer, R. A. Andersen, O. R. Anderson, J. R. Barta, S. S. Bowser, G. Brugerolle, R. A. Fensome, and S. Fredericq. 2005. The new higher level classification of eukaryotes with emphasis on the taxonomy of protists. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology 52:399-451.
- Adler, L. S. 2000. The ecological significance of toxic nectar. Oikos 91:409-420.
- Alaux, C., C. Dantec, H. Parrinello, and Y. Le Conte. 2011a. Nutrigenomics in honey bees: digital gene expression analysis of pollen's nutritive effects on healthy and varroaparasitized bees. BMC genomics 12:496.
- Alaux, C., F. Ducloz, D. Crauser, and Y. Le Conte. 2010. Diet effects on honeybee immunocompetence. Biology Letters 6:562-565.
- Alaux, C., M. Folschweiller, C. McDonnell, D. Beslay, M. Cousin, C. Dussaubat, J.-L. Brunet, and Y. L. Conte. 2011b. Pathological effects of the microsporidium Nosema ceranae on honey bee queen physiology (*Apis mellifera*). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 106:380-385.
- Antoine Lecocq, A. B. J., Per Kryger, James C. Neih. 2016. Parasite infection accelerates age polyethism in young honey bees. Nature.
- Antúnez, K., R. Martín-Hernández, L. Prieto, A. Meana, P. Zunino, and M. Higes. 2009. Immune suppression in the honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) following infection by Nosema ceranae (Microsporidia). Environmental Microbiology 11:2284-2290.
- Arathi, H., I. Burns, and M. Spivak. 2000. Ethology of hygienic behaviour in the honey bee *Apis mellifera* L.(Hymenoptera: Apidae): behavioural repertoire of hygienic bees. Ethology 106:365-379.
- Arathi, H., G. Ho, and M. Spivak. 2006. Inefficient task partitioning among nonhygienic honeybees, *Apis mellifera* L., and implications for disease transmission. Animal Behaviour **72**:431-438.
- Arathi, H., and M. Spivak. 2001. Influence of colony genotypic composition on the performance of hygienic behaviour in the honeybee, *Apis mellifera* L. Animal Behaviour **62**:57-66.
- Arien, Y., A. Dag, S. Zarchin, T. Masci, and S. Shafir. 2015. Omega-3 deficiency impairs honey bee learning. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **112**:15761-15766.
- Avni, D., A. Dag, and S. Shafir. 2009. The effect of surface area of pollen patties fed to honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) colonies on their consumption, brood production and honey yields. Journal of Apicultural Research 48:23-28.
- Axel, D., A. Cédric, O. Jean-François, and H. Mickaël. 2011. Why Enhancement of Floral Resources in Agro-Ecosystems Benefit Honeybees and Beekeepers? Ecosystems Biodiversity. InTech.
- Bailey, L. 1968. Honey Bee Pathology. Annual Review of Entomology 13:191-212.
- Baker, H. G. 1977. Non-sugar chemical constituents of nectar. Apidologie 8:349-356.

- Blitzer, E. J., C. F. Dormann, A. Holzschuh, A.-M. Klein, T. A. Rand, and T. Tscharntke. 2012. Spillover of functionally important organisms between managed and natural habitats. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 146:34-43.
- Brodschneider, R., and K. Crailsheim. 2010. Nutrition and health in honey bees. Apidologie **41**:278-294.
- Bronstein, J. L. 1994. Our Current Understanding of Mutualism. The Quarterly Review of Biology **69**:31-51.
- Campbell, J., B. Kessler, C. Mayack, and D. Naug. 2010. Behavioural fever in infected honeybees: parasitic manipulation or coincidental benefit? Parasitology **137**:1487-1491.
- Cane, J. H., D. R. Gardner, and P. A. Harrison. 2011. Nectar and pollen sugars constituting larval provisions of the alfalfa leaf-cutting bee (*Megachile rotundata*) (Hymenoptera: Apiformes: Megachilidae). Apidologie 42:401-408.
- Chen, J., Evans, B., Pettis, J. 2008. *Nosema ceranae* is a long-present and wide-spread microsporidian infection of the European honey bee *(Apis mellifera)* in the United States. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology **97**:186-188.
- Chrzanowski, G., B. Leszczyński, P. Czerniewicz, H. Sytykiewicz, H. Matok, R. Krzyżanowski, and C. Sempruch. 2012. Effect of phenolic acids from black currant, sour cherry and walnut on grain aphid (*Sitobion avenae F.*) development. Crop Protection **35**:71-77.
- Copley, T. R., and S. H. Jabaji. 2012. Honeybee glands as possible infection reservoirs of *Nosema ceranae* and *Nosema apis* in naturally infected forager bees. Journal of Applied Microbiology **112**:15-24.
- Costa, C., M. Lodesani, and L. Maistrello. 2010. Effect of thymol and resveratrol administered with candy or syrup on the development of *Nosema ceranae* and on the longevity of honeybees (*Apis mellifera* L.) in laboratory conditions. Apidologie **41**:141-150.
- de Groot, A. 1953. Protein and amino acid requirements of the honeybee (Apis mellifica L.) Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), United Nations.
- Di Pasquale, G., M. Salignon, Y. Le Conte, L. P. Belzunces, A. Decourtye, A. Kretzschmar, S. Suchail, J.-L. Brunet, and C. Alaux. 2013. Influence of Pollen Nutrition on Honey Bee Health: Do Pollen Quality and Diversity Matter? PLOS one **8**:e72016.
- Dötterl, S., and N. J. Vereecken. 2010. The chemical ecology and evolution of bee-flower interactions: a review and perspectives. Canadian Journal of Zoology **88**:668-697.
- Duffey, S. S., and M. J. Stout. 1996. Antinutritive and toxic components of plant defense against insects. Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology **32**:3-37.
- Dussaubat, C., A. Maisonnasse, D. Crauser, D. Beslay, G. Costagliola, S. Soubeyrand, A. Kretzchmar, and Y. Le Conte. 2013. Flight behavior and pheromone changes associated to *Nosema ceranae* infection of honey bee workers (*Apis mellifera*) in field conditions. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 113:42-51.
- Erler, S., and R. F. A. Moritz. 2016. Pharmacophagy and pharmacophory: mechanisms of selfmedication and disease prevention in the honeybee colony (*Apis mellifera*). Apidologie 47:389-411.
- Evans, J. D., Y. P. Chen, G. d. Prisco, J. Pettis, and V. Williams. 2009. Bee cups: single-use cages for honey bee experiments. Journal of Apicultural Research **48**:300-302.
- Fahrig, L., J. Girard, D. Duro, J. Pasher, A. Smith, S. Javorek, D. King, K. F. Lindsay, S. Mitchell, and L. Tischendorf. 2015. Farmlands with smaller crop fields have higher within-field biodiversity. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 200:219-234.

- Fries, I., M.-P. Chauzat, Y.-P. Chen, V. Doublet, E. Genersch, S. Gisder, M. Higes, D. P. McMahon, R. Martín-Hernández, and M. Natsopoulou. 2013. Standard methods for Nosema research. Journal of Apicultural Research 52:1-28.
- Fries, I., F. Feng, A. da Silva, S. B. Slemenda, and N. J. Pieniazek. 1996. Nosema ceranae n. sp.(Microspora, Nosematidae), morphological and molecular characterization of a microsporidian parasite of the Asian honey bee Apis cerana (Hymenoptera, Apidae). European Journal of Protistology 32:356-365.
- Gallant, A. L., N. H. Euliss, and Z. Browning. 2014. Mapping Large-Area Landscape Suitability for Honey Bees to Assess the Influence of Land-Use Change on Sustainability of National Pollination Services. PLOS one **9**:e99268.
- Garibaldi, L. A., I. Steffan-Dewenter, R. Winfree, M. A. Aizen, R. Bommarco, S. A.
 Cunningham, C. Kremen, L. G. Carvalheiro, L. D. Harder, O. Afik, I. Bartomeus, F.
 Benjamin, V. Boreux, D. Cariveau, N. P. Chacoff, J. H. Dudenhöffer, B. M. Freitas, J.
 Ghazoul, S. Greenleaf, J. Hipólito, A. Holzschuh, B. Howlett, R. Isaacs, S. K. Javorek, C.
 M. Kennedy, K. M. Krewenka, S. Krishnan, Y. Mandelik, M. M. Mayfield, I. Motzke, T.
 Munyuli, B. A. Nault, M. Otieno, J. Petersen, G. Pisanty, S. G. Potts, R. Rader, T. H.
 Ricketts, M. Rundlöf, C. L. Seymour, C. Schüepp, H. Szentgyörgyi, H. Taki, T.
 Tscharntke, C. H. Vergara, B. F. Viana, T. C. Wanger, C. Westphal, N. Williams, and A.
 M. Klein. 2013. Wild Pollinators Enhance Fruit Set of Crops Regardless of Honey Bee Abundance. Science 339:1608-1611.
- Gillespie, S. D., and L. S. Adler. 2013. Indirect effects on mutualisms: parasitism of bumble bees and pollination service to plants. Ecology **94**:454-464.
- Gisder, S., N. Möckel, A. Linde, and E. Genersch. 2011. A cell culture model for *Nosema ceranae* and *Nosema apis* allows new insights into the life cycle of these important honey bee-pathogenic microsporidia. Environmental Microbiology **13**:404-413.
- Goblirsch, M., Z. Y. Huang, and M. Spivak. 2013. Physiological and Behavioral Changes in Honey Bees (*Apis mellifera*) Induced by *Nosema ceranae* Infection. PLOS one **8**:e58165.
- Goulson, D., E. Nicholls, C. Botías, and E. L. Rotheray. 2015. Bee declines driven by combined stress from parasites, pesticides, and lack of flowers. Science **347**.
- Grambsch, T. M. T. a. P. M. 2000. Modeling Survival Data: Extending the {C}ox Model. Springer, New York.
- Greenaway, W., T. Scaysbrook, and F. R. Whatley. 1990. The Composition and Plant Origins of Propolis: A Report of Work at Oxford. Bee World **71**:107-118.
- Harmon-Threatt, A. N., and C. Kremen. 2015. Bumble bees selectively use native and exotic species to maintain nutritional intake across highly variable and invaded local floral resource pools. Ecological Entomology **40**:471-478.
- Hendriksma, H. P., K. L. Oxman, and S. Shafir. 2014. Amino acid and carbohydrate tradeoffs by honey bee nectar foragers and their implications for plant–pollinator interactions. Journal of Insect Physiology **69**:56-64.
- Hendriksma, H. P., and S. Shafir. 2016. Honey bee foragers balance colony nutritional deficiencies. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology **70**:509-517.
- Higes, M., R. Martín, and A. Meana. 2006. *Nosema ceranae*, a new microsporidian parasite in honeybees in Europe. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology **92**:93-95.
- Higes, M., R. Martín-Hernández, E. Garrido-Bailón, A. V. González-Porto, P. García-Palencia, A. Meana, M. J. Del Nozal, R. Mayo, and J. L. Bernal. 2009. Honeybee colony collapse

due to *Nosema ceranae* in professional apiaries. Environmental Microbiology Reports **1**:110-113.

- Higes, M. G.-P., P. Martin-Hernandex, R. Meana, A. 2007. Experimental infection of *Apis mellifera* honeybees with *Nosema ceranae* (Microsporidia). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 94:211-217.
- Holzschuh, A., C. F. Dormann, T. Tscharntke, and I. Steffan-Dewenter. 2011. Expansion of mass-flowering crops leads to transient pollinator dilution and reduced wild plant pollination. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 278:3444-3451.
- Irwin, R. E., D. Cook, L. L. Richardson, J. S. Manson, and D. R. Gardner. 2014. Secondary Compounds in Floral Rewards of Toxic Rangeland Plants: Impacts on Pollinators. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 62:7335-7344.
- Jack, C. J., H. M. Lucas, T. C. Webster, and R. R. Sagili. 2016. Colony Level Prevalence and Intensity of *Nosema ceranae* in Honey Bees (*Apis mellifera* L.). PLOS one **11**:e0163522.
- Kaur, M., and A. Kalia. 2012. Convolvulus arvensis: A useful weed. International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences **4**:38-40.
- Khoury, D. S., A. B. Barron, and M. R. Myerscough. 2013. Modelling Food and Population Dynamics in Honey Bee Colonies. PLOS one **8**:e59084.
- Kosinski, A. K. a. M. 2017. survminer: Drawing Survival Curves using 'ggplot2'.
- Liao, L.-H., W.-Y. Wu, and M. Berenbaum. 2017. Impacts of Dietary Plant secondary metabolites in the Presence and Absence of Pesticides on Longevity of Honey Bees (*Apis mellifera*). Insects 8:22.
- Manson, J. 2009. The Ecological consequences and adaptive function of nectar secondary metabolites. University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada.
- Manson, J. S., M. C. Otterstatter, and J. D. Thomson. 2010. Consumption of a nectar alkaloid reduces pathogen load in bumble bees. Oecologia **162**:81-89.
- Mao, W., M. A. Schuler, and M. R. Berenbaum. 2013. Honey constituents up-regulate detoxification and immunity genes in the western honey bee *Apis mellifera*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **110**:8842-8846.
- Mao, W., M. A. Schuler, and M. R. Berenbaum. 2015. A dietary phytochemical alters casteassociated gene expression in honey bees. Science Advances 1.
- Martín-Hernández, R., C. Botías, L. Barrios, A. Martínez-Salvador, A. Meana, C. Mayack, and M. Higes. 2011. Comparison of the energetic stress associated with experimental *Nosema ceranae* and *Nosema apis* infection of honeybees (*Apis mellifera*). Parasitology research 109:605-612.
- Masai Biller, L. A., Rebecca Irwin, Caitlin McAllister, Evan Palmer-Young. 2015. Possible Synergistic Effects of Thymol and Nicotine against *Crithidia bombi* Parasitism in Bumble Bees. PLOS one **10**.
- Mattila, H. R., and G. W. Otis. 2006a. Effects of Pollen Availability and Nosema Infection During the Spring on Division of Labor and Survival of Worker Honey Bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae). Environmental Entomology **35**:708-717.
- Mattila, H. R., and G. W. Otis. 2006b. The effects of pollen availability during larval development on the behaviour and physiology of spring-reared honey bee workers. Apidologie **37**:533-546.
- Maurizio, A., and F. E. D. Hodges. 1950. The Influence of Pollen Feeding and Brood Rearing on the Length of Life and Physiological Condition of the Honeybee Preliminary Report. Bee World **31**:9-12.

Mayack, C. N., D. 2009. Energetic stress in the honeybee *Apis mellifera* from *Nosema ceranae* infection. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology **100**:185-188.

- Metabolhtes, N.-C. S. 2004. Phytochemical diversity of secondary metabolites.
- Naug, D., and A. Gibbs. 2009. Behavioral changes mediated by hunger in honeybees infected with *Nosema ceranae*. Apidologie **40**:595-599.
- Neukirch, A. 1982. Dependence of the life span of the honeybee (Apis mellifica) upon flight performance and energy consumption. Journal of comparative physiology **146**:35-40.
- Nicholls, C. I., and M. A. Altieri. 2013. Plant biodiversity enhances bees and other insect pollinators in agroecosystems. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development **33**:257-274.
- Ogle, D., L. St John, and D. Tilley. 2008. Plant guide for yellow sweetclover (*Melilotus officialis* (*L.) Lam.*) and white sweetclover (*M. alba Medik.*). USDA-Natural Resources Conservation Service, Idaho Plant-Materials Center, Aberdeen, United Kingdom.
- Ogle, D. H. 2017. FSA: Fisheries Stock Analysis.
- Orhan, I., E. Küpeli, S. Terzioğlu, and E. Yesilada. 2007. Bioassay-guided isolation of kaempferol-3-O-β-d-galactoside with anti-inflammatory and antinociceptive activity from the aerial part of Calluna vulgaris L. Journal of Ethnopharmacology **114**:32-37.
- Otto, C. R. V., C. L. Roth, B. L. Carlson, and M. D. Smart. 2016. Land-use change reduces habitat suitability for supporting managed honey bee colonies in the Northern Great Plains. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **113**:10430-10435.
- Palmer-Young, E. C., A. Hogeboom, A. J. Kaye, D. Donnelly, J. Andicoechea, S. J. Connon, I. Weston, K. Skyrm, R. E. Irwin, and L. S. Adler. 2017a. Context-dependent medicinal effects of anabasine and infection-dependent toxicity in bumble bees. PLOS one 12:e0183729.
- Palmer-Young, E. C., B. M. Sadd, R. E. Irwin, and L. S. Adler. 2017b. Synergistic effects of floral plant secondary metabolites against a bumble bee parasite. Ecology and Evolution 7:1836-1849.
- Palmer-Young, E. C., B. M. Sadd, P. C. Stevenson, R. E. Irwin, and L. S. Adler. 2016. Bumble bee parasite strains vary in resistance to plant secondary metabolites. **6**:37087.
- Palmer-Young, E. C., C. Ö. Tozkar, R. S. Schwarz, Y. Chen, R. E. Irwin, L. S. Adler, and J. D. Evans. 2017c. Nectar and pollen plant secondary metabolites stimulate honey bee (Hymenoptera: Apidae) immunity to viral infection. Journal of Economic Entomology 110:1959-1972.
- Ptaszyńska, A. A., G. Borsuk, A. Zdybicka-Barabas, M. Cytryńska, and W. Małek. 2016. Are commercial probiotics and prebiotics effective in the treatment and prevention of honeybee nosemosis C? Parasitology research 115:397-406.
- Pyke, G. H. 2016. Floral Nectar: Pollinator Attraction or Manipulation? Trends in Ecology & Evolution **31**:339-341.
- Richardson, L. e. a. 2015. Secondary metabolites in floral nectar reduce parasite infections in bumblebees. Proceedings of the Royal Scociety B **282**.
- Richardson, L. L., L. S. Adler, A. S. Leonard, J. Andicoechea, K. H. Regan, W. E. Anthony, J. S. Manson, and R. E. Irwin. 2015. Secondary metabolites in floral nectar reduce parasite infections in bumblebees. Page 20142471 *in* Proc. R. Soc. B. The Royal Society.
- Ricigliano, V. A., W. Fitz, D. C. Copeland, B. M. Mott, P. Maes, A. S. Floyd, A. Dockstader, and K. E. Anderson. 2017. The impact of pollen consumption on honey bee (*Apis*

mellifera) digestive physiology and carbohydrate metabolism. Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology **96**:e21406-n/a.

- Roy, R., A. J. Schmitt, J. B. Thomas, and C. J. Carter. 2017. Review: Nectar biology: From molecules to ecosystems. Plant Science **262**:148-164.
- Sagili, R. R., and T. Pankiw. 2007. Effects of protein-constrained brood food on honey bee (*Apis mellifera* L.) pollen foraging and colony growth. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 61:1471-1478.
- Schmid-Hempel, R., and P. Schmid-Hempel. 1998. Colony performance and immunocompetence of a social insect, *Bombus terrestris*, in poor and variable environments. Functional Ecology **12**:22-30.
- Scofield, H. N., and H. R. Mattila. 2015. Honey bee workers that are pollen stressed as larvae become poor foragers and waggle dancers as adults. PLOS one **10**:e0121731.
- Seeley, T. D. 1995. The Wisdom of the hive. The social physiology of honey bee colonies. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Seshadri, A. B., E. Bjostad,. In Review. Pollen metabolomic content from crop and non-crop plants.
- Shafer, A. B., G. R. Williams, D. Shutler, R. E. Rogers, and D. T. Stewart. 2009. Cophylogeny of Nosema (Microsporidia: Nosematidae) and bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae) suggests both cospeciation and a host-switch. Journal of Parasitology **95**:198-203.
- Somerville, D. 2000. Honey bee nutrition and supplementary feeding. Agnote DAI/178. NSW Agriculture:1034-6848.
- Standifer, L. N., Moeller, F.E., Kauffeld, N.M., Herbert, E.W., Jr., and Shimanuki, H. 1977. Supplemental feeding of honey bee colonies. Page 8 *in* United State Department of. Agriculture, editor. Agriculture Information Bulletin, Washington, D. C.
- Stevenson, P. C., S. W. Nicolson, and G. A. Wright. 2017. Plant secondary metabolites in nectar: impacts on pollinators and ecological functions. Functional Ecology **31**:65-75.
- Tatsuzawa, F., N. Takahashi, K. Kato, K. Shinoda, N. Saito, and T. Honda. 2014. Acylated cyanidin glycosides from the pale-violet flowers of *Ionopsidium acaule* (Desf.) Rchb. (*Brassicaceae*). Phytochemistry Letters 7:69-76.
- Thompson, S., and R. Redak. 2008. Parasitism of an insect *Manduca sexta L*. alters feeding behaviour and nutrient utilization to influence developmental success of a parasitoid. Journal of Comparative Physiology B **178**:515-527.
- vanEngelsdorp, D., J. Hayes, R. M. Underwood, and J. Pettis. 2008. A Survey of Honey Bee Colony Losses in the U.S., Fall 2007 to Spring 2008. PLOS one **3**:e4071.
- Vaudo, A. D., J. F. Tooker, C. M. Grozinger, and H. M. Patch. 2015. Bee nutrition and floral resource restoration. Current Opinion in Insect Science **10**:133-141.
- Visscher, P. K., and R. Dukas. 1997. Survivorship of foraging honey bees. Insectes Sociaux 44:1-5.
- Wang, D.-I., and F. Moeller. 1970. Comparison of the free amino acid composition in the hemolymph of healthy and *Nosema*-infected female honey bees. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 15:202-206.
- Wehling, K., C. Niester, J. J. Boon, M. T. M. Willemse, and R. Wiermann. 1989. p-Coumaric acid a monomer in the sporopollenin skeleton. Planta **179**:376-380.
- Westfall, T. H. a. F. B. a. P. 2008. Simultaneous inference in general parametric models. Biometrical Journal.
- Wickham, H. 2009. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis.

- Williams, G. R., A. B. A. Shafer, R. E. L. Rogers, D. Shutler, and D. T. Stewart. 2008. First detection of *Nosema ceranae*, a microsporidian parasite of European honey bees (*Apis mellifera*), in Canada and central USA. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 97:189-192.
- Williams, G. R., D. Shutler, K. L. Burgher-MacLellan, and R. E. L. Rogers. 2014. Infrapopulation and community dynamics of the parasites *Nosema apis* and *Nosema ceranae*, and consequences for honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) Hosts. PLOS one **9**:e99465.
- Wright, G. A., D. D. Baker, M. J. Palmer, D. Stabler, J. A. Mustard, E. F. Power, A. M. Borland, and P. C. Stevenson. 2013. Caffeine in floral nectar enhances a pollinator's memory of reward. Science 339:1202-1204.
- Abdel-Moneim, A., E. S. A. Reheim, S. M. A. El-Twab, M. B. Ashour, and A. I. Yousef. 2018. The ameliorative effect of p-coumaric acid and gallic acid on oxidative stress and hematological abnormalities in a rat model of type 2 diabetes. Veterinary and Animal Science.
- Adler, L. S. 2000. The ecological significance of toxic nectar. Oikos 91:409-420.
- Alaux, C., F. Ducloz, D. Crauser, and Y. Le Conte. 2010. Diet effects on honeybee immunocompetence. Biology Letters 6:562-565.
- Briskin, D. P. 2000. Medicinal plants and phytomedicines. Linking plant biochemistry and physiology to human health. Plant physiology **124**:507-514.
- Bronstein, J. L. 1994. Our Current Understanding of Mutualism. The Quarterly Review of Biology **69**:31-51.
- Dejan, S., P. Jovana, S. Marina, G. Jasmina, K.-M. Jelena, and P. Silvana. 2013. In situ antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of naturally occurring caffeic acid, p-coumaric acid and rutin, using food systems. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 93:3205-3208.
- Erler, S., and R. F. A. Moritz. 2016. Pharmacophagy and pharmacophory: mechanisms of selfmedication and disease prevention in the honeybee colony (*Apis mellifera*). Apidologie 47:389-411.
- Hendriksma, H. P., K. L. Oxman, and S. Shafir. 2014. Amino acid and carbohydrate tradeoffs by honey bee nectar foragers and their implications for plant–pollinator interactions. Journal of Insect Physiology **69**:56-64.
- Irwin, R. E., D. Cook, L. L. Richardson, J. S. Manson, and D. R. Gardner. 2014. Secondary Compounds in Floral Rewards of Toxic Rangeland Plants: Impacts on Pollinators. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 62:7335-7344.
- Kelly, M. R., J. Xu, K. E. Alexander, and G. Loo. 2001. Disparate effects of similar phenolic plant secondary metabolites as inhibitors of oxidative damage to cellular DNA. Mutation Research/DNA Repair 485:309-318.
- King, A. M. Y., and G. Young. 1999. Characteristics and Occurrence of Phenolic Plant secondary metabolites. Journal of the American Dietetic Association **99**:213-218.
- Leif Richardson, D. B., Rebecca Irwin. 2016. Nectar chemistry mediates the behavior of parasitized bees: consequences for plant fitness. Ecology **97**:325-337.
- Manson, J. S., M. C. Otterstatter, and J. D. Thomson. 2010. Consumption of a nectar alkaloid reduces pathogen load in bumble bees. Oecologia **162**:81-89.
- Mayack, C. N., D. 2009. Energetic stress in the honeybee *Apis mellifera* from *Nosema ceranae* infection. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology **100**:185-188.
- Naug, D., and A. Gibbs. 2009. Behavioral changes mediated by hunger in honeybees infected with *Nosema ceranae*. Apidologie **40**:595-599.

- Palmer-Young, E. C., A. Hogeboom, A. J. Kaye, D. Donnelly, J. Andicoechea, S. J. Connon, I. Weston, K. Skyrm, R. E. Irwin, and L. S. Adler. 2017. Context-dependent medicinal effects of anabasine and infection-dependent toxicity in bumble bees. PLOS one 12:e0183729.
- Pyke, G. H. 2016. Floral Nectar: Pollinator Attraction or Manipulation? Trends in Ecology & Evolution **31**:339-341.
- Richardson, L. L., L. S. Adler, A. S. Leonard, J. Andicoechea, K. H. Regan, W. E. Anthony, J. S. Manson, and R. E. Irwin. 2015. Secondary metabolites in floral nectar reduce parasite infections in bumblebees. Page 20142471 *in* Proc. R. Soc. B. The Royal Society.
- Zabka, M., and R. Pavela. 2013. Antifungal efficacy of some natural phenolic compounds against significant pathogenic and toxinogenic filamentous fungi. Chemosphere **93**:1051-1056.

APPENDIX

Compound	Molecular Str	ructure	Chemical Structu	re Concentration	Replicates	Total Number of Bees
p-Coumaric Acid	C9H8O3		О СН3	25 ppm	4	45
		H₃C∖ O [⊄]		250 ppm	4	35
			ĊH ₃	2,500 ppm	4	44
Gallic Acid	C7H6O5	но	\sim	25 ppm	4	40
		но	Т тон	250 ppm	4	39
			 он	2,500 ppm	4	38
Kaempferol	$C_{15}H_{10}O_{6}$	(25 ppm	4	30
		но		250 ppm	4	31
			ОН	2,500 ppm	4	31
Caffeine	$C_8H_{10}N_4O_2$		0	25 ppm	4	40
		ĺ	ОН	250 ppm	4	41
		HO		2,500 ppm	4	39
Control				20% Sucrose Solution	11	109

TABLE 1- PHYTOCHEMICAL STRUCTURES AND FEEDING TREATMENT ASSAYS.

TABLE 1- KAPLAN-N	MEIER SURVIVAL	CURVE DIFFER	ENCES
		CORFEDNIEL	LITCLD

Treatment	X^2	df	Р
p-Coumaric Acid	15.5	3	0.001
Gallic Acid	16.6	3	< 0.001
Kaempferol	65.8	3	< 0.001
Caffeine	33.4	3	< 0.001

TABLE 2- PETO & PETO MULTIPLE TEST COMPARISONS

	Concentration	Median	X^2	df	Р
Treatment		Survival (d)			
p-Coumaric Acid -					
Control	25 ppm	27	11	1	< 0.001
	250 ppm	23	3.1	1	0.08
	2500 ppm	44	9.2	1	0.002
Gallic Acid - Control	25 ppm	23	0	1	0.8
	250 ppm	23	6.5	1	0.01
	2500 ppm	19	5.5	1	0.02
Kaempferol - Control	25 ppm	27	7.7	1	0.005
	250 ppm	28	10.7	1	0.001
	2500 ppm	47	45.9	1	< 0.001
Caffeine - Control	25 ppm	26.5	13.8	1	< 0.001
	250 ppm	28	10.4	1	0.001
	2500 ppm	21	2.8	1	0.09



FIGURE 2 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR P-COUMARIC ACID TREATMENTS



FIGURE 3 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR GALLIC ACID TREATMENTS



FIGURE 4 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR KAEMPFEROL TREATMENTS



FIGURE 5 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR CAFFEINE TREATMENTS

Infection			
Status	X^2	df	Р
Ν	22	3	< 0.001
Y	26	3	0.009
Ν	14.8	3	0.002
Y	23.9	3	< 0.001
Ν	84.3	3	< 0.001
Y	21.7	3	< 0.001
Ν	49.1	3	< 0.001
Y	78.3	3	< 0.001
	Infection Status N Y N Y N Y N Y Y	Infection X ² N 22 Y 26 N 14.8 Y 23.9 N 84.3 Y 21.7 N 49.1 Y 78.3	Infection X ² df N 22 3 Y 26 3 N 14.8 3 Y 23.9 3 N 84.3 3 Y 21.7 3 N 49.1 3 Y 78.3 3

TABLE 3- KAPLAN MEIER SURVIVAL CURVE DIFFERENCES

	Infection	Concentration	Median			
Treatment	Status	(ppm)	survival (d)	X^2	df	Р
Control	Ν	0	21			
	Y	0	16			
p-Coumaric						
Acid	Ν	25	27	17.7	1	< 0.001
		250	23	5.7	1	0.02
		2500	26	10.2	1	0.001
p-Coumaric						
Acid	Y	25	22	20.8	1	0.001
		250	19	6.2	1	0.01
		2500	20	11.8	1	0.001
Gallic Acid	Ν	25	23	0.6	1	0.4
		250	23	8.4	1	0.004
		2500	19	3	1	0.09
Gallic Acid	Y	25	19	3.3	1	0.7
		250	22	18.6	1	< 0.001
		2500	17.5	0.2	1	0.7
Kaempferol	Ν	25	27	7.4	1	0.006
		250	28	19.2	1	< 0.001
		2500	40	55.4	1	< 0.001
Kaempferol	Y	25	19	2.3	1	0.1
		250	22	18.1	1	< 0.001
		2500	17	8.1	1	0.004
Caffeine	Ν	25	26.5	25.5	1	< 0.001
		250	28	21.9	1	< 0.001
		2500	21	1.4	1	0.2
Caffeine	Y	25	24	39.6	1	< 0.001
		250	25	42.1	1	< 0.001
		2500	17	0.2	1	0.6

TABLE 4- KAPLAN MEIER SURVIVAL CURVE DIFFERENCES COMPARED TO CONTROL

TABLE 5- DIFFERENCES IN SPORE CONCENTRATION OF INFECTED WORKER BEE INTESTINAL TRACT GIVEN DIFFERENT LEVELS OF PHYTOCHEMICAL CONCENTRATION

Treatment	X ²	df	Р
Gallic Acid	2.38	3	0.49
Caffeine	55.58	3	< 0.001
Kaempferol	15.55	3	0.001
p-Coumaric Acid	4.28	3	0.23

TABLE 6- DUNN'S POST-HOC PAIRWISE COMPARISONS OF MEAN SPORE CONCENTRATIONS

Treatment	Pairwise Comparisons	Р
Caffeine	0 ppm - 25 ppm	< 0.001
Caffeine	0 ppm - 250 ppm	1
Caffeine	0 ppm - 2500 ppm	1
Kaempferol	0 ppm - 25 ppm	0.011
Kaempferol	0 ppm - 250 ppm	0.008
Kaempferol	0 ppm - 2500 ppm	0.044





FIGURE 6 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR P-COUMARIC ACID TREATMENTS





FIGURE 7 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR GALLIC ACID TREATMENTS





FIGURE 8 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR KAEMPFEROL TREATMENTS





FIGURE 9 - KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL PROBABILITY ESTIMATES FOR CAFFEINE TREATMENTS



